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   2021  2020 

 
Notes  AED ’000  AED ’000 

 
     

Interest income 15  79,238  92,277 

Interest expense 16    (22,266)  (39,253) 

NET INTEREST INCOME 
  56,972  53,024 

 
     

Net fees and commission income 17  6,772  8,841 

Other income 18  3,537  1,940 

OPERATING INCOME 
  67,281  63,805 

 
  

   

Staff Costs   (10,740)  (12,629) 

Other Operating Expenses 19  (12,094)  (15,188) 

Depreciation 9  (2,721)  (3,317) 

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 
  (25,555)  (31,134) 

   
   

OPERATING PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BEFORE  

PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT AND TAXATION 41,726  32,671 

 
     

Impairment allowance on loans and advances, net 5  
(169,809)  

 
(130,124)  

Impairment reversal on other financial assets, net  25  7,613  303 

LOSS FOR THE YEAR BEFORE TAX 
  (120,470)   (97,150)  

 
     

Tax for the year 7  (39,130)  (44) 

LOSS FOR THE YEAR 
  

(159,600)   (97,194)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Independent Auditor’s report is set out on page 1 to 3 
 
 
The attached notes on pages 9 to 52 form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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  2021  2020 
 

  AED ’000  AED ’000 
 

  
   

LOSS FOR THE YEAR   (159,600)  (97,194) 
 

     
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME      
Net unrealised gain on investment securities measured      
at fair value through OCI   3,793           (7,507) 

 
  

 
 

 

ECL on investment securities measured at fair    
 

 
 

value through OCI   (187)           6,889  

   
 

 
 

Other comprehensive income for the year    3,606              (618) 

        
Total comprehensive loss for the year   (155,994)  (97,812) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Independent Auditor’s report is set out on page 1 to 3 
 
 
The attached notes on pages 9 to 52 form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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  Allocated  Statutory    Fair Value   
Accumulated   

 Total 

 Capital   reserve     reserve    losses    

           
 AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000  AED ’000   
   

       
Balance at 1 January 
2020                              

900,000  2,595  1,969  (263,553)  641,011 

 
Loss for the year                  

-  -  -  (97,194)  (97,194) 

 
Other Comprehensive 
income 

-  -  (618)  -  (618)  

 ──────  ────────  ────────  ────────  ─────── 
Total comprehensive loss 
for the year 

-  -    (618)  (97,194)  (97,812) 

 ──────  ────────  ────────  ────────  ─────── 
Balance at 31 December 
2020 

900,000  2,595  1,351  (360,747)  543,199 
          

Loss for the year -  -  -  (159,600)   (159,600)  
 
Other Comprehensive 
income 

-  -  3,606  -  3,606 

 ──────  ────────  ────────  ────────  ─────── 
Total comprehensive 
loss for the year -  -  3,606  (159,600)   (155,994)  

 ─────── ────────  ────────  ───────  ─────── 
Balance at 31 December 
2021 900,000 2,595 4,957  (520,347)  387,205  

 ═══════ ════════ ════════ ═══════  ═══════ 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The attached notes on pages 9 to 52 form an integral part of the financial statement
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   2021  2020 

 Notes  AED '000  AED '000 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES  

    
Loss for the year before Tax  

 (120,470)  (97,150) 
Adjustments for:  

    
Depreciation 9  2,721   3,317  
Loss on disposal of fixed assets  

 -  - 
Gain on disposal of investment  

 (549)  - 
Finance Cost  

 79   98  
Impairment allowance on loans and advances, net  

 169,809   130,124  
Impairment reversal on other financial assets, net  

 (7,613)  (303) 
  

    
Operating profit before changes in operating assets and 
liabilities 

 
 43,977   36,086  

  
    

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:  
    

Statutory cash reserve with U.A.E. Central Bank  
 (989)  189,177  

Certificate of Deposit  
 80,000   (80,000) 

Loans and advances  
 98,976   27,753  

Due to Head Office after three months  
 (367,245)  697,870  

Due from banks and other FI’s over three months  
 (241,760)  - 

Other assets (including acceptances)  
 23,207   2,220,217  

Due to banks and other financial institutions    
 77,781   393,671  

Customer's deposits  612,466  (1,424,837) 
Other liabilities  (10,420) (2,226,528) 

  

Cash generated/ (used in) from operations  
 315,993   (166,591) 

Income tax paid 7  (44)  (365) 
  

    
Net cash generated/ (used in) from Operating activities  

 315,949   (166,956) 
  

    
INVESTING ACTIVITIES  

    
Purchase of property and equipment 9  (8)  (268) 
Investment Securities  

 (189,836)  (8,280) 
Proceeds received from sale of investments  

 7,964   - 
  

    
Net cash used in Investing activities  

 (181,880)  (8,548) 
  

    
FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

    
Payment of Lease Liabilities  

 (2,452)  (2,920) 
  

    
Net cash used in Financing activities  

 (2,452)  (2,920) 
  

    
NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS 

 
 131,617   (178,424) 

  
    

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  
 283,722   462,146  

  
    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 20  415,339   283,722  

 
 
The Independent Auditor’s report is set out on page 1 to 3 
 
The attached notes on pages 9 to 52 form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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1 ACTIVITIES 
 
The financial statements of Doha Bank (Q.P.S.C.) - United Arab Emirates (UAE) Branches (the “Branches”) relate to 
the activities of the Abu Dhabi and Dubai Branches of Doha Bank (Q.P.S.C.) (the “Head Office”). Doha Bank (Q.P.S.C.) 
is listed on the Doha Securities Market. 
 
The Branches operate under separate licences issued by the UAE Central Bank and are engaged in banking activities. 
Dubai branch was incorporated on 18 July 2007 and Abu Dhabi branch started its operations from 27 November 2012.  
 
The registered address of the Branches are as follows: 
 
 Dubai Branch - P.O. Box 125465, Dubai, United Arab Emirates 
 Abu Dhabi Branch - P.O. Box 27448, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates  
 
These financial statements reflect the activities of the Dubai and Abu Dhabi Branches only and exclude all transactions, 
assets and liabilities of the Head Office and other branches of the Head Office outside United Arab Emirates. 
 
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
a) Changes in accounting policies 
 
The following amendments to standards, which became effective as of 1 January 2021, are relevant to the Branches: 
 

• Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2, amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 
16 (Effective on 1 January 2021) 

 
The adoption of the above did not result in any changes to previously reported net profit or Head Office equity of the 
Branches. 
 
IBOR Transition 
Effective from 1 January 2021, the Branches have adopted Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 (Amendments 
to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16). These amendments provide practical relief from certain requirements 
in IFRS. These reliefs relate to modifications of financial instruments and lease contracts or hedging relationships 
triggered by placement of a benchmark interest rate in a contract with a new alternative benchmark rate. 
 
If the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability measured at amortized 
cost changed as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, then the Branches updated the effective interest rate of 
the financial asset or financial liability to reflect the change that is required by the reform. A change in the basis for 
determining the contractual cash flows is required by interest rate benchmark reform if the following conditions are 
met: 
 
• the change is necessary as a direct consequence of the reform; and 
• the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis – i.e. the   
  basis immediately before the change. 
 
The Phase 2 amendments provide a series of temporary exceptions from certain hedge accounting requirements when 
a change required by interest rate benchmark reform occurs to a hedged item and/or hedging instrument that permits 
the hedging relationship to be continued without interruption. The Branches applied the following reliefs as and when 
uncertainty arising from interest rate benchmark reform was no longer present with respect to the timing and amount 
of the interest rate benchmark based cash flows of the hedged item or hedging instrument: 
 
• the Branches amended the designation of a hedging relationship to reflect changes that were required by the reform 
without discontinuing the hedging relationship; and 
• when a hedged item in a cash flow hedge was amended to reflect the changes that were required by the reform, the 
amount accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve was deemed to be based on the alternative benchmark rate on 
which the hedged future cash flows are determined. 
 
The Branches applied the Phase 2 amendments retrospectively. However, in accordance with the exceptions permitted 
in the Phase 2 amendments, the Branches have elected not to restate comparatives for the prior periods to reflect the 
application of these amendments. Since the Branches have no transactions for which the benchmark rate had been 
replaced with an alternative benchmark rate as at 31 December 2020, there is no impact on opening equity balances 
as a result of retrospective application. 
 

b) Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements of the Branches have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and Interpretations (IFRIC) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and 
applicable requirements of the United Arab Emirates Laws. The Branches have assessed their ability to continue as a  
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
b) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 
going concern and are satisfied that they have the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. The 
ability of the Branches to continue as a going concern are dependent upon the continuity of the regulatory permit 
granted to continue in operations. The Branches have full regulatory permit for such purposes and also the support 
from their Head Office in Doha to fund ongoing liquidity requirements. Accordingly, these financial statements have 
been prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Branches’ accounting policies. 
The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 2(r). 
 
c) Basis of measurement 
 
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost basis except for derivative financial instruments which 
are carried at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and investments in bonds that have been measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income ('FVOCI'). 
 
d) Functional and Presentation currency 
 
The financial statements have been presented in UAE Dirhams in thousands, which is the functional and presentational 
currency of the Branches, rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise stated. 
 
e) Financial assets and financial liabilities  
 
i) Recognition and initial measurement 

 
The Branches initially recognises loans and advances, and deposits on the date on which they are originated. All other 
financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Branches become a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. This includes “regular way trades”: purchases or sales of financial 
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the 
marketplace.  
 
A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or 
loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. 
 
ii) Classification  
 
The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their purpose and characteristics and the 
management’s intention in acquiring them. 
 
Financial assets  
 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortized cost, fair value through other 

comprehensive income (FVOCI) or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 
 
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at 
FVTPL: 
 
 The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; 

and 
 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.     
 
A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at 
FVTPL: 

 The asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling financial assets; and  

 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Branches may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.  
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 
ii) Classification (continued) 
 
Financial assets (continued) 
 
All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL. 

 
In addition, on initial recognition, the Branches may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the 
requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces 
an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.  
 
Business model assessment 
 
The Branches makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level 
because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The 
information considered includes:  
 

 The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.  
 How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Branches’ management. 
 The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business 

model) and how those risks are managed.  
 How managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of 

the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected); and  
 the frequency, volume, and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations 

about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part 
of an overall assessment of how the Branches’ stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved 
and how cash flows are realised. 

 
Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are 
measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual 
cash flows and to sell financial assets. 
 
Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest 
 
For the purposes of this assessment, 'principal' is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. 
'Interest' is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal 
amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and 
administrative costs), as well as profit margin.  
 
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest (“the SPPI test”), the 
Branches considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset 
contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not 
meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Branches considers contingent events that would change the 
amount and timing of cash flows, prepayment and extension terms, terms that limit the Branches claim to cash flows 
from specified assets and features that modify consideration of the time value of money. Instruments failing SPPI will 
be measured at FVTPL. 
 
Reclassifications 
 
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Branches 
changes its business model for managing financial assets. The reclassification takes place from the start of the first 
reporting period following the change. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
The Branches classifies its financial liabilities in the categories of fair value through profit or loss, and amortised cost.  
 
i) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) held for trading, or (ii) it is designated as 
at FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as held for trading if: 
 
- it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or 
 



Doha Bank (Q.P.S.C.) - United Arab Emirates (UAE) Branches 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 

12 
 

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 
ii) Classification (continued) 
 
Financial liabilities (continued) 
 
i) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 
 
- on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Branches manages together 

and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 
 
A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or contingent consideration that may be paid by an 
acquirer as part of a business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if: 
 
- such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 

otherwise arise; or 
- the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and 

its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Branches’ documented risk management 
or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or 

- it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 permits the entire hybrid 
(combined) contract to be designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
ii)       Financial liabilities at amortised cost  
 
Other financial liabilities, including deposits and borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. 
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on 
initial recognition. 
 
iii) Derecognition 
 
Derecognition of financial assets 
 
The Branches derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the asset’s cash flows expire (including 
expiry arising from a modification with substantially different terms), or when the financial asset and substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are transferred to another entity. If the Branches neither transfers nor 
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Branches 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Branches 
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Branches continues to 
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. 
 
In the case where the financial asset is derecognised, the loss allowance for ECL is remeasured at the date of 
derecognition to determine the net carrying amount of the asset at that date. The difference between this revised 
carrying amount and the fair value of the new financial asset with the new terms will lead to a gain or loss on 
derecognition. The new financial asset will have a loss allowance measured based on 12-month ECL except in the 
rare occasions where the new loan is considered to be originated credit impaired. This applies only in the case where 
the fair value of the new loan is recognised at a significant discount to its revised par amount because there remains 
a high risk of default which has not been reduced by the modification. The Branches monitors credit risk of modified 
financial assets by evaluating qualitative and quantitative information, such as if the borrower is in past due status 
under the new terms. 
 
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount 
allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new 
asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in OCI is 
recognised in profit or loss.  
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
 
The Branches derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Branches’ obligations are discharged, 
cancelled, or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the 
consideration paid and payable is recognised in the income statement. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 
iii) Derecognition (continued) 
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities (continued) 
 
When the Branches exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one with substantially different 
terms, such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a 
new financial liability. 
 
iv) Modification of financial assets and liabilities 
 
Financial Assets 
 
If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Branches evaluate whether the cash flows of the modified asset are 
substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the 
original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognised and a new 
financial asset is recognised at fair value, and recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset. The date of 
renegotiation is consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purpose, 
including for the purpose of determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. 
 
If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortised cost are not substantially different, then the modification 
does not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the Branches recalculates the gross carrying amount 
of the financial asset based on the revised cash flows of the financial assets and recognises the amount arising from 
adjusting the gross carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in the income statement. If such a modification is 
carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower, then the gain or loss is presented together with impairment 
losses. In other cases, it is presented as income. 
 
Financial Liabilities 
 
The Branches derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified, and the cash flows of the modified liability 
are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. 
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and the new financial liability with 
modified terms is recognised in the income statement. 
 
v) Offsetting 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position if, 
and only if, there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on 
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. This is not generally the case with master 
netting agreements; therefore, the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the statement of financial 
position. 
 
vi) Measurement principles 
 
Amortized cost measurement 
 
The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is measured at 
initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between the initial amount recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for 
impairment loss. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees 
that are integral part of the effective interest rate. 
 
Fair value measurement 
For those assets and liabilities carried at fair value, the Branches measure fair value at each reporting date. Fair value 
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk. 
 
The fair value measurement of financial instruments is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset 
or transfer the liability takes place either:  
 

 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 
vi) Measurement principles (continued) 
 
Fair value measurement (continued) 
 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Branches. The fair value of an asset or a 
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 
 
A fair value measurement of non-financial instruments (instruments other than financial instruments) takes into account 
a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling 
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 
 
 
The Branches use valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs. 
 
The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their quoted market 
price in an active market for that instrument. An active market is one in which transactions for the asset or liability take 
place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. For all other financial 
instruments including instruments for which the market has become inactive, the fair value is determined by using 
appropriate valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include the fair value derived from recent arm’s length 
transaction, comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist, discounted cash flow method 
or other relevant valuation techniques commonly used by market participants. For investments in equity instruments 
where a reasonable estimate of fair value cannot be determined, the investment is carried at cost. 
 
The fair value of a derivative financial instrument is the equivalent of the unrealised gain or loss from marking to market 
the derivative financial instrument, using relevant market rates. 
 
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured are categorised and disclosed in the financial statements as 
follows 

 Level 1 - Traded in the active market based on closing bid price.  
 Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

is directly or indirectly observable. Valuation is derived from recent arm’s length transaction, comparison to 
similar instruments for which market observable prices exists.  

 Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is unobservable. Valuation techniques include discounted cash flow method, book value method or other 
relevant valuation techniques commonly used by market participants.  

 
vii) Identification and measurement of impairment  

 
The Branches recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the following financial instruments that 
are not measured at FVTPL: 
 
 Financial assets that are debt instruments; and 
 Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. 
 
The Branches measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which they 
are measured as 12-month ECL: 

 debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and 
 other financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition. 

 
12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on financial instruments that are possible with the 
12 months after the reporting date. 
 
Measurement of ECL 
 
ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows: 
 
 Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. 

the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that 
the Branches expects to receive); 

 Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 

vii) Identification and measurement of impairment (continued) 
 
Measurement of ECL (continued) 
 
 Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that are 

due to the Branches if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Branches expects to receive; 
and 

 Financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts that the 
Branches expects to recover. 

 
Restructured financial assets 
If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a new one 
due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial asset should be 
derecognised and ECL are measured as follows. 
 
 If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash flows 

arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing asset. 
 If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair value of the 

new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition. This 
amount is included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that are discounted from 
the expected date of derecognition to the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the existing 
financial asset. 

 
Credit-impaired financial assets 
At each reporting date, the Branches assess whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial 
assets carried at FVOCI are credit impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have 
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 
 
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data: 
 

 Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
 A breach of contract such as a default or past due event; 
 The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Branches on terms that the Branches would not consider 

otherwise; 
 It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or 
 The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties. 
 Write-off of loans and advances to customers 

 
Loans and advances to customers (and the related impairment allowance accounts) are normally written off, either 
partially or in full, when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Where loans are secured, this is generally after receipt 
of any proceeds from the realisation of security. In circumstances where the net realisable value of any collateral has 
been determined and there is no reasonable expectation of further recovery, write-off may be earlier. 
 
f) Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Branches and the 
revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is 
recognised: 
 
Interest income and expense 
Interest income and expense for all interest bearing financial instruments except at FVTPL, are presented in ‘interest 
income’ and ‘interest expense’ in the income statement on an accrual basis using the effective interest rates of the 
financial assets or financial liabilities to which they relate. Effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a short period, 
where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial assets or financial liabilities.  
 
For the financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is 
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their amortised cost (i.e. net of the expected credit loss provision). 
If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis. 
 
Fees and commission income and expense 
Fees and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate of a financial asset or liability 
are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate.  
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
f) Revenue recognition (continued) 
 
Other fee and commission income, including account servicing fees, investment management fees, sales commission, 
placement fees and syndication fees, are recognised over time as the related services are performed. When a loan 
commitment is not expected to result in the draw-down of a loan, the related loan commitment fees are recognised 
over time on a straight-line basis over the commitment period. In case of these services, the control is considered to 
be transferred over time as the customer is benefited from these services over the tenure of the service period. Other 
fee and commission expense relate mainly to transaction the services are received. 
 
g) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of notes and coins on hand, due from banks including head office and overseas 
branches, and unrestricted balances with UAE Central Bank with original maturity of less than three months with 
insignificant credit risk net of due to banks including head office and overseas branches with original maturity not 
exceeding three months. 
 
h) Due from banks 
 
Due from banks and loans and advances to customers are initially measured at the transaction price which is the fair 
value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, except for the financial assets which are classified to be measured at FVTPL.  
 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flow through the expected life of the 
financial asset or liability. 
 
i) Investment securities 
 
The 'investment securities' includes debt securities measured at FVOCI.  
 
For debt securities measured at FVOCI, gains and losses are recognised in OCI, except for the following, which are 
recognised in profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost: 
 
 Interest income using the effective interest method; 
 Expected credit losses and reversals; and 
 Foreign exchange gains and losses. 
 
When a debt security measured at FVOCI is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI 
is reclassified from equity to statement of profit or loss. 
 
j) Property and equipment 

 
Property and equipment other than freehold land are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.  
 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits of the expenditure 
will flow to the Branches. Ongoing repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. 
 
Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment (calculated as the difference between the net 
proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised within other income in the statement of 
profit or loss. 
 
Depreciation is provided on all property and equipment, other than freehold land, at rates calculated to write off the 
cost of each asset on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful lives and generally recognised in statement of 
profit and loss. 
 
The assets residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
each financial year end. The estimated useful lives of the assets for the calculation of depreciation are as follows: 
 
Office equipment 5 years 
Furniture and fixtures 7 years 
Computer equipment 3 years 
Motor vehicles 5 years 
Right of use of assets                                                             1 to 2 years   
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
j) Property and equipment (continued) 
 
The carrying amounts of property and equipment are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is 
any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets are written down to their recoverable amounts 
and the impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
k) Taxation 
 
Income tax expense comprises of current tax and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, or in statement of comprehensive 
income, in which case it is recognized in statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date by the tax laws and regulation issued by the Emirates of Abu Dhabi and 
Dubai, and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years.  
 
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met. 
 
l) Deferred tax 
 
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for: 
 
–– temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; 
 
–– temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements to the extent that 
the Branches are able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that they will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future; and 
 
–– taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Future taxable 
profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable 
temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for 
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business plans of the Branches.  
 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits 
improves. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that 
it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. 
 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
 
The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the 
Branches expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met. 
 
m) Provisions 

 
Provisions are recognised when the Branches have a present obligation (legal or constructive) arising from a past 
event, and the costs to settle the obligation are both probable and able to be reliably measured. Provisions are 
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and where appropriate, the risk specific to the liability.   
 
n) End of service benefits 

 
With respect to the Branches’ national employees, the Branches contribute to the pension scheme for UAE nationals 
under the UAE General Pension and Social Security law in accordance with Federal Law No. (7), 1999 for Pension 
and Social Security. This is a defined contribution pension plan and the Branches’ contributions are charged to the 
statement of profit or loss in the period to which they relate. In respect of this scheme, the Branches have an obligation 
to pay the fixed contributions as they fall due and no obligations exist to pay the future benefits. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
n) End of service benefits (continued) 
 
The Branches provide for end of services benefits to other employees based on an estimation of the amount of future 
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service until their retirement, subject to completion of minimum 
services period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment and are not less 
than the liability arising under the UAE Labour Laws.   
 
o) Foreign currencies 

 
Foreign currency transactions are recorded at rates of exchange ruling at value dates of the transaction. All monetary 
assets and liabilities in foreign currencies outstanding at the year-end are translated into UAE Dirhams at rates of 
exchange ruling at the reporting date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between 
amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments 
during the year, and amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair values are translated into UAE 
Dirhams using the spot exchange rate at the date the values were determined. Gains or losses on translation are 
included in the statement of profit or loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities carried at cost are not re translated 
subsequent to their initial recognition. Any resultant gains or losses are taken to the statement of profit or loss. 
 
p) Contingent liability 

 
To meet the financial needs of customers, the Branches enters into various irrevocable commitments and contingent 
liabilities. These consist of financial guarantees, letters of credit and other undrawn commitments to lend. Even though 
these obligations may not be recognized on the statement of financial position, they do contain credit risk and are 
therefore part of the overall risk of the Branches.  
 
Letters of credit and guarantees (including standby letters of credit) commit the Branches to make payments on behalf 
of customers in the event of a specific act, generally related to the import or export of goods. Guarantees and standby 
letters of credit carry a similar credit risk to loans. For details, refer note 22. 
 
q) Acceptances:  

 
Acceptances arise when the Branches is under an obligation to make payments against documents drawn under letters 
of credit. Acceptances specify the amount of money, the date and the person to which the payment is due.   
 
After acceptance, the instrument becomes an unconditional liability (time draft) of the Branches and is therefore 
recognized as a financial liability in the statement of financial position with a corresponding contractual right of 
reimbursement from the customer recognized as a financial asset.      
          
Acceptances have been considered within the scope of IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments and continued to be recognized 
as a financial liability in the statement of financial position with a contractual right of reimbursement from the customer 
as a financial asset.          
          
r) Use of estimates and judgements 

 
The Branches makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year and the resultant provisions and fair value. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and 
are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are recognised 
prospectively. 
 
The basis used by management in determining the carrying values of loans and advances and the underlying risk 
therein are discussed below: 
 
i) Income taxes/ Deferred tax asset 
The Branches are subject to income taxes in each of the two Emirates in the UAE that it operates in. There are certain 
transactions and calculations for which ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. 
The Branches recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will 
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such 
differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
 
ii) Financial asset classification 
Assessment of the business model within which the assets are held and assessment of whether the contractual terms 
of the financial asset are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
r) Use of estimates and judgements (continued) 
 
iii) Significant increase in credit risk 
ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for Stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for Stage 2 or Stage 3 
assets. An asset moves to Stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. IFRS 9 does 
not define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has  
significantly increased the Branches takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable 
forward-looking information. 
 
iv) Models and assumptions used 
The Branches use various models and assumptions in measuring fair value of financial assets as well as in estimating 
ECLs. Judgement is applied in identifying the most appropriate model for each type of asset, as well as for determining 
the assumptions used in these models, including assumptions that relate to key drivers of credit risk. See note 2 (e) 
(vii) for more details on ECL. 
 
v) Establishing groups of assets with similar credit risk characteristics 
When ECLs are measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared risk 
characteristics. Refer to note 2 (e) (vii) for details of the characteristics considered in this judgement. The Branches 
monitors the appropriateness of the credit risk characteristics on an ongoing basis to assess whether they continue to 
be similar. This is required in order to ensure that should credit risk characteristics change there is an appropriate re-
segmentation of the assets. This may result in new portfolios being created or assets moving to an existing portfolio 
that better reflects the similar credit risk characteristics of that Branches of assets. Re-segmentation of portfolios and 
movement between portfolios is more common when there is a significant increase in credit risk (or when that 
significant increase reverses) and so assets move from 12-month to lifetime ECLs, or vice versa, but it can also occur 
within portfolios that continue to be measured on the same basis of 12-month or lifetime ECLs but the amount of ECL 
changes because the credit risk of the portfolios differ. 
 
s) Leases 
 
At inception of a contract the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A contract is, or contains, 
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Company 
uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16.  
 
As a lessee 

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Branches allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative standalone prices. However, for the 
leases of office premises the Branches has elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease 
and non-lease components as a single lease component. 
 
The Branches recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use 
asset is initially measured at cost which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to 
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any 
lease incentives received.  
 
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the 
end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Branches by the end of the 
lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Branches will exercise a purchase option. In that case 
the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset which is determined on the  
same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment 
losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.  
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined 
the Branches’ incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Branches uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount 
rate.  
 
The Branches determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external financing 
sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset leased.  
 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 
 

- fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
s) Leases (continued) 

As a lessee (continued) 

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate 
as at the commencement date;  

- amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 
- the exercise price under a purchase option that the Branches are reasonably certain to exercise, lease 

payments in an optional renewal period if the Branches are reasonably certain to exercise an extension 
option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Branches are reasonably certain not 
to terminate early. 

 
 

The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is 
a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Branches’ 
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Branches changes its 
assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-
substance fixed lease payment. 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the 
right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to 
zero.  
 

The Branches presents right-of-use assets in ‘Property and equipment and lease liabilities in other liabilities in the 
statement of financial position. 
 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets  

The Branches has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets 
and short-term leases, including IT equipment. The Branches recognizes the lease payments associated with these 
leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

t) Financial Guarantees 
 
Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt 
instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions, and other bodies on behalf of customers 
to secure loans, overdrafts, and other banking facilities. 
 
Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value on the date that the guarantee 
was given, being the premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the branches liabilities under such 
guarantees are measured at the higher of the initial measurement, less amortisation calculated to recognise in the 
statement of income any fee income earned over the period, and the best estimate of the expenditure required settling 
any financial obligation arising as a result of the guarantees at the reporting date.  
 
u) Derivatives held for trading purposes 
 
The branches derivative trading instruments includes forward foreign exchange contracts. The branches sell these 
derivatives to customers in order to enable them to transfer, modify or reduce current and future risks. These derivative 
instruments are fair valued as at the end of reporting date and the corresponding fair value changes is taken to the 
statement of profit or loss. 
 
v) Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
The carrying amounts of the branches non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated.  
 
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
 
w) New standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 
 
A number of standards and amendments to standards are issued but not yet effective and the Branches have not 
adopted these in the preparation of these financial statements. The below standards may have an impact on the 
Branches financial statements, however, the Branches are currently evaluating the impact of these new standards.   
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
w) New standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 
The Branches will adopt these new standards on the respective effective dates. 
 

 Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 (Effective on 1 January 2022) 
 Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3) (Effective on 1 January 2022) 
 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16) (Effective on 1 

January 2022) 
 Classification of liabilities as current or non-current (Amendments to IAS 1) (Effective on 1 January 2023) 
 IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (Effective on 1 January 2023) 
 Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2) (Effective on 1 

January 2023) 
 Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8) (Effective on 1 January 2023) 
 Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction (Amendments to IAS 12) 

(Effective on 1 January 2023) 
 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS 

10 and IAS 28) (Available for optional adoption / effective date deferred indefinitely) 
 

3 CASH AND BALANCES WITH U.A.E CENTRAL BANK 
 

  2021  2020 

  AED '000  AED '000 

Cash on hand  15,158   14,525  

Balances with the UAE Central Bank  
 

  
- Current Accounts  2,909   2,531  

- Statutory Cash Reserve  22,037   21,048  

- Certificate of Deposits -  140,017  

- Placement with UAE CB  168,000  103,000  

  208,104   281,121  

 
Effective 28 October 2020, the CBUAE introduced new regulations regarding reserve requirements for deposit-taking 
licensed financial institutions. Under the new regulation, deposit-taking licensed institutions are allowed to draw on 
their reserve balances held in the CBUAE on any day up to 100% for daily settlement purposes or to deal with any 
swings on overnight money market rates, while ensuring that the daily average requirements over a 14-day reserve 
maintenance period is met. The level of reserves required changes periodically in accordance with business 
requirements and the directives of the Central Bank. 
  
Cash and balances with UAE Central Bank are classified under stage 1 as per IFRS 9. Impairment on cash and 
balances with U.A.E Central Bank has been measured on 12-month expected loss basis and reflects the short 
maturities of exposures. The Branches consider that these balances have low credit risk based on external credit 
ratings of the counterparties. Accordingly, the resulted ECL would be immaterial hence not recorded. 
 
4 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Related Party 
A party is considered to be related to the Branches if: 
 
 The party, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, 

a. controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Branch; 
b. has an interest in the Branches that gives it significant influence over the Branch; or 
c. has joint control over the Branch; 

 The party is an associate. 
 The party is a jointly controlled entity. 
 The party is a member of the key management personnel of the Branches. 
 The party is a close member of the family of key management personnel  
 The party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled, or significantly influenced by or for which       

significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any key management personnel  
 The party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the Branch, or of any entity    

that is a related party of the Branches. 
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4 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 
 
Related parties represent the Head Office and its branches, directors and key management personnel of the Head 
Office and its branches, and entities controlled, jointly controlled, or significantly influenced by such parties. The terms 
of these transactions are approved by the Head Office management. 
 

The Branches maintain current accounts with the Head 
Office in Doha and other branches abroad and conducts 
banking transactions with them as part of its normal activities 
on terms approved by the head office management. 

 2021 

 

2020 

 
 AED ’000  AED ’000 

Due from Head Office and its branches:     
   Due within three months  329,354   108,940  

Due to Head Office and its branches:     
   Due within three months  274,284   166,262  

   Due after three months  330,570   697,870  
  604,854   864,132  

 
No Expected Credit Loss on Due from Head Office and its branches as credit risk is very low and insignificant 
 
Related party transactions, which arise in the ordinary course of business, included in the statement of profit or loss 
are as follows: 

 
 2021  2020 

  AED ’000  AED ’000 

Transactions with Head Office and its branches     

Interest Income (Note 15)  560   1,381  

Interest Expense (Note 16)  4,551 9,524 

Head Office charges (Note 19) * 2,205  2,493  
 
*Head Office charges are capped to 2.5% of interest and non-interest income of the Branches. 
 
Compensation of key management personnel is as follows: 

  2021  2020 

  AED ’000  AED ’000 

Salaries and other benefits  650   864  

End of service benefits  237   383  

  887   1,247  

 
           
Loans and advances to Board of Directors of the Head Office granted on 16th November 2015 amounting to AED 
13,178 thousand (2020: AED 14,442 thousand) has an interest rate of 3.25% and maturity is on 29th Oct 2026.          
 
5 LOANS AND ADVANCES 
 
The composition of the loans and advances portfolio is as follows: 
 
a) By type 

  2021  2020 

  AED '000  AED '000 

Term Loans  1,467,448  1,934,926 

Overdrafts  57,998   70,100  

Bills discounting  547,435   612,256  

  2,072,881   2,617,282  

Less:     

Expected Credit Losses (ECL) allowance on stage 1 and 2  (18,608)   (25,540)  

ECL Allowance on stage 3  (701,330)   (970,014)  

  (719,938)   (995,554)  
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  1,352,943    1,621,728   

5 LOANS AND ADVANCES (continued) 
                                                                                                       
An analysis of change in ECL allowances is as follows 

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

 AED '000  AED '000  AED '000  AED '000 
ECL allowance at 1 January 2021 151   25,388   970,015   995,554  

Net (reversals) / impairment charge (87)  (6,844)  179,113    172,182   

Interest not recognized -  -  124,837  124,837 

Recoveries -  -  (1,945)  (1,945) 

Amounts written off -  -  (570,690)  (570,690) 
 

       
As at 31 December 2021 64  18,544   701,330    719,938   

 
 

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

 AED '000  AED '000  AED '000  AED '000 
ECL allowance at 1 January 2020 601   42,587   934,077   977,265  

Net (reversals) / impairment charge (450)  (17,199)  153,953    136,304   

Interest not recognized -  -  160,926  160,926 

Recoveries -  -  (6,373)  (6,373) 

Amounts written off -  -  (272,568)  (272,568) 
 

       
As at 31 December 2020 151  25,388   970,015    995,554   

 
 2021 2020 

 
 AED '000  AED '000 

a) Impairment allowance on loans and advances, net  
   

Net impairment charge for the year  172,182   136,304  
Recoveries during the year  (1,945)  (6,373) 
Recoveries during the year - from written off  (428)   193  

 
 169,809   130,124  

   
 

 
  2021  2020 

 
 AED '000  AED '000 

b) By Sector   
 

 

Corporate Lending  1,950,902   2,500,194  

Retail Lending  121,979   117,088  

  2,072,881   2,617,282  

 

  2021  2020 

  AED '000  AED '000 

c) By Economic Segment     
Wholesale and retail trade  347,299   889,634  

Services  865,671   817,443  

Construction  361,898   353,239  
Transport and telecommunication  218,206   218,130  
Personal Loans  121,980   117,088  
Manufacturing  157,827   221,748  

  2,072,881   2,617,282  

     
  2021  2020 

  AED '000  AED '000 

d) By Geographic Area     
Within UAE  1,610,872   2,178,900  
Outside UAE  462,009   438,382  
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  2,072,881   2,617,282  

5 LOANS AND ADVANCES (continued) 
 

  2021  2020 

  AED '000  AED '000 

e) By Currency     
UAE Dirhams  1,558,207   2,117,088  
US Dollars  508,467   496,980  
Euro  6,207   3,214  

  2,072,881   2,617,282  

 
 
Set out below are the gross loans and advances by past due and non-past due balances: 
 

  2021  2020 

  AED '000  AED '000 

     
Impaired  833,166   1,247,087  
Past Due but not impaired  48,483   115,560  
Neither past due nor impaired  1,191,232   1,254,635  

  2,072,881   2,617,282  

      
6          INVESTMENT SECURITIES  
 

The analysis of investment securities is detailed below:    
 

 2021  2020 
 AED '000  AED '000 

Investment Securities (Bonds) measured at FVOCI -Fair Value 258,378  72,164 

    

 2021  2020 

By Geographic Area AED '000  AED '000 

Within UAE 185,637  ‐ 
Outside UAE 72,741  72,164 

 258,378  72,164 

 
 
a)     Fair Value Reserve      
The reserve comprises of fair value changes recognized on fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): 

 2021  2020 

 AED '000  AED '000 

Balance as of 1st January  1,351  1,969 

Impact of Revaluation 3,793  (7,507) 

ECL on Investment at Fair Value through OCI (187)  6,889 

Balance as of 31st December  4,957   1,351 

 
The fair value reserve as of 31 Dec 2021 contains an amount of AED 6,702 of ECL (2020: AED 6,889), which consist 
of AED 479 of Stage 1 ECL (2020: AED 261) and Stage 2 ECL of AED 6,223 (2020: AED 6,628) 
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6          INVESTMENT SECURITIES (continued) 

 
b) Below table sets out the credit quality of investment securities   
 2021  2020 

 AED '000  AED '000 

Investment grade - Aaa to Baa3 193,407   7,972  

Sub-Investment grade - Ba1 to Caa3 64,971   64,192  

 258,378   72,164  

7 TAXATION 
 

  2021  2020 

Statement of profit and loss    AED '000  AED '000 

Current income tax:  
 

 
 

Current income tax charge  -   -  

Adjustment in respect of current income tax of previous year  -  44  

 
 -   44  

Deferred tax:   
 

 

Deferred tax for the year  (39,130)  -  

 
  

 
 

The relationship between the tax expense and the accounting profit  
 

 

Accounting loss before tax  (120,470)  (97,150) 

Tax at the applicable rate of 20%  (24,094)  (19,430) 
 

    
Tax effects of expenses not deductible for tax purpose   60,795  62,973  

Tax effect of expenses deductible for tax purpose                                           (114,527) (55,788) 

Origination and reversal of timing differences – current year  -  - 

Prior year charge  -   44  

Net reversal of stage 1 & stage 2 impairment allowance  (2,910)  (3,590) 

Tax effect of previous years' losses  -   -  

Tax effect on current years' losses  80,736   15,835  

DTA Reversal  (39,130)  -  

Current income tax charge/ (Benefit)  (39,130)  44  

Effective tax rate  32.48   0.05  
 
Taxation is provided at 20% (2020: 20%) on the taxable profits for the year in the Emirate of Dubai and Abu Dhabi in 
which the Branches operates. The taxable profit is calculated after adding back certain provisions to the profit before 
taxation which management believes are likely to be disallowed as deduction by the tax authorities.  
 
Movements in the income tax payable during the year are as follows: 

 2021 2020 
 AED ’000 AED ’000 
 
Balance at 1 January 44 365 
Provided during the year - 44 
Income tax paid (44) (365) 
 ─────── ─────── 
Balance at 31 December - 44 
 ═══════ ═══════ 
Movements in the deferred tax asset during the year are as follows: 

 2021 2020 
 AED ’000 AED ’000 
 
Balance at 1January 179,396 179,396 
Reversal of DTA due to write off of impaired loans and advances (39,130)                              -                          
       ───────── ───────── 
Balance at 31 December 140,266  179,396 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
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8 OTHER ASSETS 

 2021 2020 
 AED ’000 AED ’000 
 
Advance Payments 517 645 
Positive Fair Value of Forward Exchange Contracts 63 1,251 
Others 3,273 4,815 
 ───────── ───────── 
 3,853 6,711 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
 
 
9 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  
 
 

 Office 
Furniture 

and Computer Motor 
Right of 

use  
 equipment’s fixtures equipment vehicles Assets Total 
 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 
 

      
Cost       
At 1 January 2021 826 15,744 9,432 292 15,378 41,672 

 ─────── ────── ────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 

 826 15,744 9,432 292 15,378 41,672 

  Additions - - 8 - 3,411 3,419 
  Disposals  - - - - - - 

 ─────── ────── ────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 

  At 31 December 2021 826 15,744 9,440 292 18,789 45,091 
─────── ────── ────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 

       
Depreciation:       
  At 1 January 2021 814 15,464 9,213 277 5,901 31,669  

  Charge for the year 5 142 108 12 2,454 2,721 
  Disposals  - - - - - - 

 ─────── ────── ────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 

  At 31 December 2021 819 15,606 9,321 289 8,355 34,390 

 ═══════ ══════ ══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ 

Net book value:       
  At 31 December 2021 7 138 119 3 10,434 10,701 

 ═══════ ══════ ══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ 
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9 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 
 
  

 Office 
Furniture 

and Computer Motor 
Right of 

use  
 equipment’s fixtures equipment vehicles Assets Total 
 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 AED '000 
 

      
Cost       
At 1 January 2020 826 15,744 9,164 292 11,329 37,355 

 ─────── ─────── ────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 

 826 15,744 9,164 292 11,329 37,355 

  Additions - - 268 - 4,049 4,317 
  Disposals  - - - - - - 

 ─────── ─────── ────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 

  At 31 December 2020 826 15,744 9,432 292 15,378 41,672 

 ─────── ─────── ────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
       

Depreciation:       
  At 1 January 2020 798 15,274 8,968 265 3,047 28,352  

  Charge for the year 16 190 245 12 2,854 3,317 
  Disposals  - - - - - - 

 ─────── ─────── ────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 

  At 31 December 2020 814 15,464 9,213 277 5,901 31,669 
═══════ ═══════ ══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ 

Net book value:       
  At 31 December 2020 12 280 219 15 9,477 10,003 

 ════════ ═══════ ══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ 
 
 
 
 
10 DUE FROM BANKS / DUE TO BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 
 
     2021     2020 

 AED ’000 AED ’000 
Due from banks 
Placement with Banks 388,680 146,920 
Current Account 27,282 14,106 
Less: Expected Credit Loss                                                                                                         -                           (55) 
   __________             __________    
 415,962 160,971 
 ═════════        ═════════ 
No Expected Credit Loss on Due from Banks as credit risk is very low and insignificant. 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED ’000 AED ’000 
Due to banks 
Time Deposits 471,452     385,671 
Borrowings from Central Bank - 8,000 
 __________ __________ 
 471,452 393,671 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
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11 CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS 
 
Customers’ deposits 
                                         2021                     2020 
                                        AED ’000             AED ’000 
By type 
Current Accounts 160,180  111,124 
Call Accounts 31,037  51,648 
Saving Accounts 12,009 12,155 
Term Deposits 996,804 412,040 
Margin Deposits 24,947 25,544 
 ───────── ───────── 
 1,224,977 612,511 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
 

                                                                                                                     2021 2020 
 AED ’000 AED ’000 
By sector 
Corporate 1,092,969 560,313 
Retail 132,008 52,198 
 ──────── ───────── 
 1,224,977 612,511 
 ═════════  ═════════ 
 

                                                                                                                     2021 2020 
 AED ’000 AED ’000 
By currency 
UAE Dirham 299,785 222,409 
US Dollar 912,435 279,316 
Others 12,757 110,786 
 ───────── ──────── 
 1,224,977 612,511 
 ═════════  ═════════ 
 
Time/Call deposits under lien as security for loans and advances (funded and unfunded) as at 31 December 2021 
amounted to AED 19,292 thousand (2020: AED 122,105 thousand). The interest rate on the deposits averaged 
1.25% in 2021 (2.15% in 2020) per annum. 
 
12 OTHER LIABILITIES 

 2021 2020 
 AED ’000 AED ’000 
 
Interest Payable 11,906  2,555 
Accounts Payable 631  787 
Unearned Commission  1,331  758 
Staff related and other provisions  4,194  4,071 
Provision for Taxation (note 7) -  44 
Negative fair value of forward exchange contracts -  915 
Expected Credit Loss on unfunded exposure 187 7,558 
Lease Liability (12.1) 10,303 9,265 
Other  2,521 1,568 
 ───────── ───────── 
 31,073 27,521 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
Staff related and other provision includes employees’ end of service benefits and pension and national insurance. 
 
12.1  Lease Liability  

                                                        2021                         2020 
                                                    AED ’000                 AED ’000  
 
At 1 January                                                                                                                 9,265             7,968 
Additions for the year                3,411                       4,119 
Finance charge for the year                             79                     98 
Payment made during the year                                        (2,452)           (2,920) 
         ─────────   ───────── 
Closing at 31 December                                      10,303             9,265 
         ═════════   ═════════ 
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13 ALLOCATED CAPITAL 
 
The assigned capital of the Branches from the Head Office is AED 900 million (2020: AED 900 million) in accordance 
with the letter to Central Bank of U.A.E. dated 14 December 2014. 
 
 
14 STATUTORY RESERVE 
 
As required by the UAE Federal Law No. 14 of 2018, as amended, 10% of the profit for the year is to be transferred to 
a statutory reserve. As such, transfers may be discontinued when the reserve equals 50% of the allocated capital. 
During the year the Branches incurred a net loss of AED 159,600 thousand, therefore no amount is transferred to the 
reserve. This reserve is not available for distribution, except under the circumstances stipulated by the Law. 
 
 
15 INTEREST INCOME 
        2021       2020 
 AED ’000 AED ’000 
 
Loans and Advances to Customers 72,808 85,850 
Head Office (note 4) 560 1,381 
Money Market Placements 375 695 
Investment Securities (Bonds) 5,495                       4,351 
 ───────── ───────── 
 79,238 92,277 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
16 INTEREST EXPENSE 

 2021 2020 
 AED ’000 AED ’000 
 
Customers’ Deposits 14,493 27,745 
Head Office (note 4) 4,551 9,524 
Money Market Deposits 3,143 1,886 
Finance Cost  79 98 
 ───────── ───────── 
 22,266 39,253 
 ═════════ ════════ 
17 NET FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME 

 2021 2020 
 AED ’000 AED ’000 
 
Commission Income on Letters of Guarantee  1,986  2,734 
Commission Income on Letters of Credit 235  1,527 
Arrangement – Factoring 258  495 
Management Fees – Loans  1,027  1,885 
Others 3,266  2,200 
 ───────── ───────── 
 6,772 8,841 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
18 OTHER INCOME 

 2021 2020 
 AED ’000 AED ’000 
 
Foreign Exchange gains 1,678  1,195 
Telex, Cable and Postage charges recovered 208  266 
Others 1,651 479 
 ───────── ───────── 
 3,537 1,940 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
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19 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES  

 2021 2020 
 AED ’000 AED ’000 
 
Communication, and Utilities and Insurance 1,587  1,678 
Head Office charges (note 4) 2,205  2,493 
Insurance Expenses 1,291  1,318 
Legal and Professional 3,494  5,687 
Others 3,517  4,012 
 ───────── ───────── 
 12,094  15,188 
   ═════════      ════════ 
 
20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of Statement of Cash Flows, comprise the following: 

 
 2021 2020 

 AED ’000 AED ’000 
 
Cash and Bank balances (note 3)  15,158  14,525 
Balances with Central Bank – Current Account (note 3) 2,909  2,531 
Due from Head Office and Branches abroad (note 4) 329,354  108,940 
Due from Banks and Other Financial Institutions (note 10) 174,202  160,971 
Certificate of Deposits with Central Bank (note 3) -     60,017 
Placement with UAE Central Bank 168,000  103,000 
 ─────────  ───────── 
 689,623  449,984 
 
Less: Due to Head Office and Branches abroad (note 4) (274,284)              (166,262) 
 ───────── ───────── 
Cash and cash equivalents 415,339 283,722 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, central bank current account, due from banks and financial 
institutions, due from Head Office and branches abroad, Certificate of Deposits and other short-term liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and 
have an original maturity of not less than 3 months less due to banks and due to Head Office and overseas branches 
which have a maturity of not more than 3 months. 
 
21 CONCENTRATION OF ASSETS, LIABILITY, HEAD OFFICE EQUITY AND OFF-BALANCE SHEET 

ITEMS. 
 
Geographic regions 
 
2021  Liabilities Off Balance 
 Assets and H.O. equity sheet items 
 AED ’000           AED ’000                     AED ’000 
 
U.A.E. 1,438,745  1,212,192 237,814 
Other G.C.C. countries 542,066 1,506,526 4,705 
Rest of the World 738,750                          843                        7,631 
 ────────── ────────── ───────── 
Total 2,719,561 2,719,561 250,150 
 ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
 
2020  Liabilities Off Balance 
 Assets and H.O. equity sheet items 

 AED ’000 AED ’000 AED ’000 
 
U.A.E. 1,679,326 674,290 360,598 
Other G.C.C. countries 162,328 1,786,374                       5,403 
Rest of the World 619,729                          719                      16,994 
 ────────── ────────── ────────── 
Total 2,461,383 2,461,383 382,995 
 ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
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22 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
The Branches’ contractual amounts in respect of letters of credit, letters of guarantees and acceptances commit the 
Branches to make specified payments on behalf of customers and contingent upon the customer satisfying the terms 
of the contract. The contractual amounts represent the credit risks, assuming that the amounts are fully advanced 
guarantees are called for full amount following performance failure, and that any collateral or other security is of no 
value. However, the total contractual amount of commitments to extend credit does not necessarily represent future 
cash requirements as many of these commitments may expire or terminate without being funded.  
 
 
The total outstanding contingent liabilities and commitments were as follows: 

 2021 2020 
 AED ’000 AED ’000 
 
Unused Facilities 61,814  3,693 
Letters of Credit 687 3,196 
Letters of Guarantees 187,649 376,106 
 ───────── ─────────
 250,150               382,995 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
Other Commitments 
Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts 278,451  697,658 
 ───────── ─────────
 278,451               697,658 
                ═════════      ═════════ 
Unused Facilities 
Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to make loans and revolving credits. Commitments 
generally have fixed expiry dates, or other termination clauses. Since commitments may expire without being drawn 
upon, the total contract amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements. 
 

However, the potential credit loss is less than the total unused commitments since most commitments to extend credit 
are contingent upon customers maintaining specific standards. The Branches monitor the term to maturity of credit 
commitments because longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term 
commitments. 
 

Contingent liability arising from litigations 
 

Where appropriate, the Branches recognises a provision for liabilities when it is probable that an outflow of economic 
resources embodying economic benefits will be required and for which a reliable estimate can be made of the 
obligation. The Branches seek to comply with all applicable laws and regulations but may be subject to regulatory 
actions and investigations from time to time, the outcome of which are generally difficult to predict and can be material. 
As at the reporting date, the Branches have no contingent liability arising from litigation (2020: the Branches have no 
contingent liability arising from litigation). 
 

 
23 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

In the normal course of its business, the Branches utilise derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to 
fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates. Derivative financial instruments used include current forwards, 
futures, and options. During the year, the Branches only entered into forward foreign exchange contracts. Derivative 
transactions result, to varying degrees, in credit as well as market risks. 
 

The Branches’ measure of derivative related credit risk is the cost of replacing contracts at current market rates should 
the counterparty defaults on or prior to the settlement date and is limited to the positive fair value of instruments that 
are favourable to the Branches. 
 

Market risk arises as interest and foreign exchange rates fluctuate affecting the value of a contract. For risk 
management purposes and to control these activities, the Branches have established appropriate procedures and 
limits approved by the Head Office. 
 

The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments, recorded as assets or liabilities, together with 
their contractual amounts. The contractual amount, recorded gross, is the amount of a derivative’s underlying asset, 
reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The contractual 
amounts indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at the year end and are neither indicative of the market risk 
nor the credit risk. 
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23            DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 
    2021          2020 
 Positive Negative  Positive Negative  
 fair fair Notional fair fair Notional 
 value value amounts value value amounts 
 AED ’000 AED ’000 AED ’000 AED ’000 AED ’000 AED ’000 
 
Derivatives Held-for-Trading 
Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts 63 - 278,451 1,251 (915)      697,658 
 ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════  ═══════ ═══════ 
 

Forward foreign exchange contracts are contractual agreements to buy, sell or exchange a specified financial 
instrument at a specific price and date in the future. Forwards are customised contracts transacted in the over-the-
counter market and are settled on a gross basis. 
 
24 FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Derivative financial instruments and investment in bonds are measured on a fair value basis. Derivatives are 
categorized within level 2 of fair value hierarchy and the fair value of financial instruments (investment in bonds) 
measured at Fair Value through other comprehensive incomes are categorized as Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy. 
 
Other financial assets and liabilities are stated at amortized cost. These include balances with Central Bank of UAE, 
due from Head office and overseas branches, due from bank and other financial institutions, loans and advances, 
other assets (excluding derivative assets), due to head office and overseas branches, due to banks and financial 
institutions, customer deposits and other liabilities (excluding derivative liabilities). The fair values of these financial 
assets and liabilities are not materially different from the respective carrying values at 31 December 2021 since assets 
and liabilities are either short-term in nature or in the case of loans and advances and deposits, frequently re-priced.  
 
 
25 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The strategy of the Branches is to maintain a strong risk management culture and manage the risk / reward relationship 
within and across each of the Branches’ major risk-based lines of business.   
 
The following sections describe the several risks inherent in the banking process, their nature and how they are 
managed. 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other 
party to incur a financial loss. The Branches manage credit risk by setting limits for individual borrowers and Branches 
of borrowers and for geographical and industry segments. The Branches also monitor credit exposures, and continually 
assesses the creditworthiness of counterparties. In addition, the Branches obtain security where appropriate; enter 
into master netting arrangements and collateral arrangements with counterparties and limits the duration of exposures.  
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk, as at the reporting date, is represented by the carrying amount of each financial 
asset in the statement of financial position.  
 
For details of the composition of the loans and advances portfolio refer to Note 5. 
 
Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or 
activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet 
contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political, or other conditions. Concentrations 
of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Branches’ performance to developments affecting a particular 
industry or geographic location.   
 
The Head Office has an internal committee which is composed of competent professional staff responsible for the 
study and evaluation of the existing credit facilities of each customer of the Bank. This committee is required to identify 
any abnormal situations and difficulties associated with a customer’s position, which might cause the debt to be 
classified as irregular, and to determine an appropriate provisioning level. 
 
Derivative financial instruments 
 
Credit risk in respect of derivative financial instruments is limited to those with positive fair values, as recorded in the 
statement of financial position.  
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  
 
Credit Risk (continued)  
 
Maximum exposure and credit quality of financial instruments 
 
The Branches’ balances with UAE Central Bank, due from Head office, due from banks and other financial institution 
and other receivables are neither past due nor impaired.  
The credit risk exposures relating to contingencies amounts to AED 250,150 thousand (31 December 2020:  
AED 382,995 thousand). 
 
Inputs, assumptions, and techniques used for estimating impairment  
 
The IFRS 9 model was developed at the Head Office level and decision related to significant assumptions and 
techniques used for estimating impairment are carried out at the Head Office level with support from the Branches for 
relevant inputs.  
 
Significant increase in credit risk 
When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Branches considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without 
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis including internal credit 
risk grading system, external risk ratings, where available, delinquency status of accounts, credit judgement and, where 
possible, relevant historical experience. The Branches may also determine that an exposure has undergone a 
significant increase in credit risk based on particular qualitative indicators that it considers are indicative of such and 
whose effect may not otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely basis.   
 

In determining whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition following criteria are considered: 

 

i. Two notches downgrade for ratings from Aaa to Baa or one notch downgrade for ratings from Ba to Caa 

ii. Facilities restructured during previous twelve months 
iii. Facilities overdue by 60 and 30 days as at the reporting date for corporate and retail loans respectively. 
 
Credit risk grades 
Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of risk of default. These 
factors vary depending on the nature of the exposure and the type of borrower. Exposures are subject to on-going 
monitoring, which may result in an exposure being moved to a different credit risk grade. 
 

Generating the term structure of Probability of Default (PD) 
The Branches employs statistical models to analyse the data collected and generate estimates of PD of exposures 
and how these are expected to change as a result of the passage of time. This analysis includes the identification and 
calibration of relationships between changes in default rates and changes in key macro-economic factors, across 
various geographies in which the Branches has exposures. 
 
Renegotiated financial assets 
The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing market conditions, 
customer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit deterioration of the customer. An existing 
loan whose terms have been modified may be derecognised and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan at 
fair value. Where possible, the Branches seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral, if 
available. This may involve extending the payment arrangements and documenting the agreement of new loan 
conditions. Management continuously reviews renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that future 
payments are likely to occur. 
 
The accounts which are restructured due to credit reasons in past 12 months are classified under Stage 2 based on 
cooling-off period. 
 
Definition of default 

 

The Branches considers a financial asset to be in default when: 

 the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Branches in full, without recourse by the Branches to 

actions such as realising security (if any is held); or 

 the borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Branches; or 

 the borrower is rated 9 or 10. 
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  
 
Credit Risk (continued)  
 
Inputs, assumptions, and techniques used for estimating impairment (continued)  
 

Definition of default (continued)  

 

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Branches also considers indicators that are: 

 quantitative – e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same issuer to the Branches; 

and 

 based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources. 

 
Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary over time to 
reflect changes in circumstances. The definition of default largely aligns with that applied by the Branches for regulatory 
capital purposes. 
 
Incorporation of forward-looking information 
 
Incorporating forward looking information increases the level of judgement as to how changes in these macroeconomic 
factors will affect the Expected Credit Loss (ECL) applicable to the stage 1 and stage 2 exposures which are considered 
as performing. The methodologies and assumptions involved, including any forecasts of future economic conditions, 
are reviewed periodically. 
 
These economic variables and their associated impact on the PD, EAD and LGD vary by financial instrument. 
Forecasts of these economic variables (the “base economic scenario”) are updated from the World economic outlook: 
IMF country data and economic forecast periodically published by Economic Intelligence Unit, which provide the best 
estimate view of the economy and commodity prices over the coming one to five years. The Branches also considers 
internal forecasts based on time series analysis for variables for which forecasts are not available. The macro-
economic variable forecasts till remaining lifetime of the exposures post five years is obtained through time series 
analysis i.e. moving average/ mean reversion as applicable. The impact of these economic variables on the PD is 
obtained by using the merton-vasicek structural model for all the portfolio. Correlation analysis has been performed for 
selection of the key macro-economic variables based on the observed portfolio default rate. 
 
The Branches have considered the effect the probable uncertainties due the pandemic through the stressed scenario 
construction and weights. The Branches have used latest economic forecasts published in October 2021, which 
includes the impact of economic contraction due to the pandemic followed by reasonable recovery. Hence, further 
stress on the Base scenario for including the effects of pandemic has not been considered. The cumulative probability 
of all the plausible downturn scenario considering the Base forecast as the starting point has been considered as the 
probability weight of the stressed scenario to address worries of further economic downturn due the re-emergence of 
pandemic and low demand. 
 

The Branches have also given specific consideration to the relevant impact of COVID-19 on the qualitative and 
quantitative factors when determining the significant increase in credit risk and assessing the indicators of impairment 
for the exposures in potentially affected sectors.  
 
In addition to the base economic scenario, the Branches’ Credit risk team also provide other possible scenarios along 
with scenario weightings. The number of other scenarios used is set based on the analysis of each major product type 
to ensure plausible events are captured. The number of scenarios and their attributes are reassessed at each reporting  
date. At 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021, for all portfolios the Branches concluded that three scenarios that 
appropriately captured the uncertainties in the macro-economic forecasts i.e. Base scenario: considering the published 
macro-economic forecasts, improved scenario and stressed scenario: considering the long term observed volatility in 
macro-economic forecast.The scenario weightings are determined by a combination of statistical analysis and expert 
credit judgement, taking account of the range of possible outcomes each chosen scenario is representative of. The 
scenario weights considered for the ECL calculation as of 31 December 2021 are Base Scenario: 65%, Improved 
Scenario: 10% and Stressed Scenario: 25% (2020: Base Scenario: 65%, Improved Scenario: 10% and Stressed 
Scenario: 25%). The assessment of SICR is performed based on credit risk assessment following management 
assessment under each of the base, and the other scenarios, multiplied by the associated scenario weightings. This 
determines whether the whole financial instrument is in Stage 1, Stage 2, or Stage 3 and hence whether 12-month or 
lifetime ECL should be recorded. Following this assessment, the Bank measures ECL as either a 12-month ECL (Stage 
1), or lifetime ECL (Stages 2). These ECLs are determined by running each scenario through the relevant ECL model 
and multiplying it by the appropriate scenario weighting. 
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  
 
Credit Risk (continued)  
 
Inputs, assumptions, and techniques used for estimating impairment (continued)  
 
As with any economic forecasts, the likelihoods of the base forecast are subject to a high degree of inherent uncertainty 
and therefore the actual outcomes may be significantly different to those projected. The Branches considers these  
forecasts to represent its best estimate of the possible outcomes and the scenarios are considered to be capturing the 
uncertainties in the Base forecast. 
 
Economic variable assumptions 
 
The most significant period-end assumptions used for the ECL estimate as at 31 December 2021 were Oil prices     
(2022: $75/Barrel, 2023: $65/ Barrel) and Private Sector Credit Concentration % (2022: 64.6%, 2023: 65.9%). 
 
Measurement of ECL 
 
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following variables: 
 

 Probability of Default (PD); 
 Loss Given Default (LGD); 
 Exposure at Default (EAD). 

 
These parameters are generally derived from internally developed statistical models and other historical data. They 
are adjusted to reflect forward-looking information as described above.  
 
PD estimates are estimates at a certain date, which are calculated based on statistical rating models. These statistical 
models are primarily based on internally compiled data comprising both quantitative and qualitative factors and are 
supplemented by external credit assessment data where available. 
 
LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Branches estimates LGD parameters based on the 
history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD estimates consider the forecasted 
collateral value and recovery costs of any collateral that is integral to the financial asset. 
 
EAD – EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Branches derive the EAD from the current 
exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract and arising from 
amortization. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount at the time of default. For lending commitments, 
the EADs are potential future amounts that may be drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on historical 
observations and forward-looking forecasts. For financial guarantees, the EAD represents the amount of the 
guaranteed exposure when the financial guarantee becomes payable. EAD is determined by the exposure at reporting 
date. 
 
Loss allowance 
 
The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance by class of 
financial instruments. 
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  
 
Credit Risk (continued)  
 
Inputs, assumptions, and techniques used for estimating impairment (continued)  
 
Loss allowance (continued) 
 
 

 Stage 1  Stage 2   Stage 3    Total  
 AED '000  AED '000  AED '000  AED '000 

Exposures subject to ECL – as at 
31 December 2021 

              

 - Loans and Advances to Customers 280,330  959,385  833,166  2,072,881 

 - Investment securities (debt) 249,215  9,163  -  258,378 
 - Loan commitments and Financial 
Guarantees 

114,185  43,824  92,141  250,150 

 - Due from banks and balances with 
Central Bank 

367,149   241,760   -   608,909 

 1,010,879  1,254,132  925,307  3,190,318 
 

       
Opening balance of impairment - 
as at 1 January 2020  
 - Loans and advances to customers 151  25,388  970,015  995,554 
 - Investment securities (debt) 261  6,628  -  6,889 
 - Loan commitments and financial 
guarantees 418  7,140  -  7,558 
 - Due from banks and balances with 
Central Bank - 55 - 55 

830 39,211 970,015 1,010,056 
Charge and net transfer between 
stages for the year         
(net of foreign exchange 
translation) 
 - Loans and advances to customers (87)  (6,844)  179,113  172,182 
 - Investment securities (debt) 218  (405)  -  (187) 
 - Loan commitments and financial 
guarantees (314)  (7,057)  -  (7,371) 
 - Due from banks and balances with 
Central Bank -  (55)  -  (55) 
 - Recoveries during the year -  -  (1,945)  (1,945)  

 (183)  (14,361)  177,168  162,624 
Other adjustments        
- Loans and advances to customers - 
Write off -  -    (570,690)  (570,690) 
- Loans and advances to customers - 
Interest suspense -  - 

 

124,837  124,837 
 - Investment securities (debt) -  - -  - 
 - Loan commitments and financial 
guarantees -  - -  - 
 - Due from banks and balances with 
Central Bank -  - -  - 

 -  -  (445,853)  (445,853) 
Closing balance of impairment  

       as at 31 December 2021 

 - Loans and advances to customers 64 

 

18,544 

 

701,330 

 

719,938 
 - Investment securities (debt) 479 6,223 - 6,702 
 - Loan commitments and financial 
guarantees 104  83  -  187 
 - Due from banks and balances with 
Central Bank -  -  -  - 

 647  24,850  701,330  726,827 
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  
 
Credit Risk (continued)  
 
Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment (continued)  
 
Loss allowance (continued) 
 

 Stage 1  Stage 2   Stage 3    Total  
 AED '000  AED '000  AED '000  AED '000 

Exposures subject to ECL – as at 
31 December  2020 

              

 - Loans and Advances to Customers 372,266  997,929  1,247,087  2,617,282 

 - Investment securities (debt) 61,508  10,656  -  72,164 
 - Loan commitments and Financial 
Guarantees 

78,639  277,536  26,820  382,995 

 - Due from banks and balances with 
Central Bank 

280,714   -   -   280,714 

 793,127  1,286,121  1,273,907  3,353,155 
 

       
Opening balance of impairment - 
as at 1 January 2019  
 - Loans and advances to customers 601  42,587  934,077  977,265 
 - Investment securities (debt) 642  -  -  642 
 - Loan commitments and financial 
guarantees 2,037  12,100  -  14,137 
 - Due from banks and balances with 
Central Bank 28  -  -  28 

3,308 54,687 934,077 992,072 
Charge and net transfer between 
stages for the year         
(net of foreign exchange 
translation) 
 - Loans and advances to customers (450)  (17,199)  153,953  136,304 
 - Investment securities (debt) (381)  6,628  -  6,247 
 - Loan commitments and financial 
guarantees (1,619)  (4,960)  -  (6,579) 
 - Due from banks and balances with 
Central Bank (28)  55  -  27 
 - Recoveries during the year -  -  (6,373)  (6,373)  

 (2,478)  (15,476)  147,580  129,626 
Other adjustments        
- Loans and advances to customers - 
Write off -  -    (272,568)  (272,568) 
- Loans and advances to customers - 
Interest suspense -  - 

 

160,926  160,926 
 - Investment securities (debt) -  - -  - 
 - Loan commitments and financial 
guarantees -  - -  - 
 - Due from banks and balances with 
Central Bank -  - -  - 

 -  -  (111,642)  (111,642) 
Closing balance of impairment  

       as at 31 December 2020 

 - Loans and advances to customers 151 

 

25,388 

 

970,015 

 

995,554 
 - Investment securities (debt) 261 6,628 - 6,889 
 - Loan commitments and financial 
guarantees 418  7,140  -  7,558 
 - Due from banks and balances with 
Central Bank -  55  -  55 

 830  39,211  970,015  1,010,056 
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  
 
Credit Risk (continued) 
 
Collateral and other credit enhancements 
 
The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. Guidelines 
are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters. 
 
The main types of collateral obtained are cash, securities, and charges over real estate properties and counter-
guarantees. 
 
Management monitors the market value of collateral on an on-going basis and requests additional collateral, when 
necessary, in accordance with underlying loan agreements. At 31 December 2021, the Branches held collateral with 
a fair value of AED 1,783,112 thousand (2020: AED 2,042,682 thousand) against loans and advances. 
 
Set out below are the collateral by impaired and non-impaired due balances: 
 

  2021 2020 
 AED ’000 AED ’000 
 
Impaired 258,241 149,064 
Not impaired 1,524,871 1,893,618 
 ───────── ───────── 
 1,783,112 2,042,682 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
 
Impairment reserve under the Central Bank of UAE (CBUAE) guidance 
 
The CBUAE has issued its IFRS 9 guidance addressing various implementation challenges and practical implications 
for Banks adopting IFRS 9 in the UAE (“the guidance”).  
 
Pursuant to clause 6.4 of the guidance, provision is not required to be transferred to impairment reserve as provision 
required under IFRS 9 is more than requirement under CBUAE requirement.  
     
 
Liquidity Risk  
 
Liquidity is the on-going ability to accommodate maturing liabilities and deposit withdrawals; fund asset growth and 
business operations; and meet contractual obligations through unconstrained access to funding at reasonable market 
rates. 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Branches will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated 
with financial investments. Liquidity risk may also result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to its 
fair value. Liquidity risk can be caused by market disruptions or credit downgrades which may cause certain sources 
of funding to dry up immediately. To guard against this risk, the management has diversified funding sources and 
assets are managed with liquidity in mind and the management monitors liquidity on a daily basis. The Branches have 
support from Head office to meet their liquidity requirements.  
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  
 
Liquidity Risk (continued)  
 
 
The table below presents the maturity profile of the undiscounted, contractual cash flows of the Branch’s financial 
liabilities 
 
 
 

 

Within   
Three 

months  

Three 
months to 

one year  

One year 
to five 
years  Total 

31 December 2021 AED '000  AED '000  AED '000  AED '000 

        
Due to Head Office and overseas branches 274,284   333,598  -  607,882  
Due to Banks and other financial institutions  204,400   269,115  -  473,515  
Customers deposits  1,086,277   152,000   79   1,238,356  
Other liabilities  8,908   -  10,303   19,211  
Acceptances -   -  -  -  

        
Total undiscounted Liabilities 1,573,869  754,713  10,382  2,338,964  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Within   
Three 

months  

Three 
months to 
one year  

One year to 
five years  Total 

31 December 2020 AED '000  AED '000  AED '000  AED '000 

        
Due to Head Office and overseas branches 166,262   697,870  -  864,132  
Due to Banks and other financial institutions  157,124   236,547  -  393,671  
Customers deposits  495,858   117,052   1,902   614,812  
Other liabilities  16,129   -  9,265   25,394  
Acceptances 20,349   -  -  20,349  

        
Total undiscounted Liabilities 855,722  1,051,469  11,167  1,918,358  
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  
 
Liquidity Risk (continued) 
 
Substantially all letters of credit and acceptances commitments expire within a period not exceeding one year, and 33% (2020: 46%) of the guarantees expire within one year.  
 
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Branches’ assets and liabilities. The maturities of assets and liabilities have been determined on the basis of the remaining 
period at the reporting date to the expected maturity date. The actual maturities may differ from the maturities shown below since the borrower may have the right to prepay obligations 
with or without prepayment penalties, and customers’ deposits might have to be repaid on demand.   
 
The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities net of ECL are as follows: 
 

 Within   
Three 

months  

Three 
months to 

one year  

One year 
to five 
years  

Over five 
years  

With no 
maturity  Total 

31 December 2021 AED '000  AED '000  AED '000  AED '000  AED '000  AED '000 
            

Cash and balances with UAE Central Bank 168,000  -  -  -  40,104  208,104 

Due from Head Office and overseas branches 91,825  -  -  -  237,529  329,354 

Due from Banks and other financial institutions  146,920  -  241,760  -  27,282  415,962 

Loans and advances to customers 488,464  484,120  116,989  263,370  -  1,352,943 

Investment Securities 4,796  -  47,908  205,674  -  258,378 

Deferred Tax Asset -  -  -  -  140,266  140,266 

Other assets 3,853                     -    -  -  -  3,853 

Acceptances -                     -    -  -  -  - 

Property and equipment -  -  -  -  10,701  10,701 
                  

Total Assets 903,858  484,120  406,657  469,044  455,882  2,719,561 
            

Due to Head Office and overseas branches 274,284  330,570  -  -  -        604,854  

Due to Banks and other financial institutions  203,851  267,601  -  -  -  471,452 

Customers deposits  1,074,583  150,315  79  -   -   1,224,977 
Other liabilities       20,770                      -    10,303            -   -  31,073 
Acceptances -                     -     -   -  -  - 

                  
Total Liabilities 1,573,488  748,486  10,382  -  -     2,332,356  
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  
 
Liquidity Risk (continued) 
 
  
 

 Within   
Three 

months  

Three 
months to 
one year  

One year 
to five 
years  

Over five 
years  

With no 
maturity  Total 

31 December 2020 AED '000  AED '000  AED '000  AED '000  AED '000  AED '000 
            

Cash and balances with UAE Central Bank 257,159  -  -  -  23,962  281,121 

Due from Head Office and overseas branches 108,940  -  -  -  -  108,940 

Due from banks and other financial institutions  14,051  -  146,920  -  -  160,971 

Loans and advances to customers 694,163  353,818  246,458  327,289  -  1,621,728 

Investment Securities -  -  61,508  10,656  -  72,164 

Deferred Tax Asset -  -  -  -  179,396  179,396 

Other assets 6,711                     -    -  -  -  6,711 

Acceptances 20,349                     -    -  -  -  20,349 

Property and equipment -  -  -  -  10,003  10,003 
                  

Total Assets 1,101,373  353,818  454,886  337,945  213,361  2,461,383 
            

Due to Head Office and overseas branches 166,262  697,870  -  -  -        864,132  

Due to banks and other financial institutions  157,124  236,547  -  -  -        393,671  

Customers deposits  494,350  116,258  1,903  -   -         612,511  
Other liabilities       18,256                      -           9,265             -   -           27,521  
Acceptances 20,349                     -     -   -  -           20,349  

                  
Total Liabilities 856,341  1,050,675  11,168  -  -     1,918,184  
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  
 
Interest Rate Risk  
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair values of financial instruments. The Branches are exposed to interest 
rate risk as a result of mismatches of interest rate repricing of assets and liabilities. The Head Office has established limits on the interest rate gaps for stipulated periods. The 
Branches manage this risk by matching the repricing of assets and liabilities through risk management strategies. The sensitivity of the statement of profit and loss is the effect of 
the assumed changes in interest rates on the net interest income for one year, based on the floating rate financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31 December 2021. The 
table below summarises the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Branches’ financial instruments at carrying amounts net of ECL, categorised by the earlier of contractual 
re pricing or maturity dates. 

 Within   
Three months  

Three months 
to one year  Above 1 year   

Non- Interest 
Sensitive  Total 

31 December 2021 AED '000  AED '000  AED '000   AED '000  AED '000 
           

Cash and balances with UAE Central Bank 168,000  -  -   40,104  208,104 

Due from Head Office and overseas branches 91,825  -  -   237,529  329,354 

Due from Banks and other financial institutions  -  -  241,760   174,202  415,962 

Loans and advances to customers 488,464  484,120  380,359   -  1,352,943 

Investment Securities 4,796  -  253,582   -  258,378 

Deferred Tax Asset -  -  -   140,266  140,266 

Other assets -   -   -   3,853  3,853 

Acceptances -   -   -   -  - 

Property and equipment -  -  -   10,701  10,701 
                

Total Assets 753,085  484,120  875,701   606,655  2,719,561 
           

Due to Head Office and overseas branches -  330,570  -   274,284  604,854 

Due to Banks and other financial institutions  203,851  267,601  -   -  471,452 

Customers deposits  918,304  150,315  79                156,279   1,224,977 

Other liabilities   -    -    -    31,073  31,073 

Acceptances  -    -    -    -  - 

Head Office Equity  -    -    -    387,205  387,205 

                
Total Liabilities and Head Office Equity 1,122,155  748,486  79   848,841  2,719,561 

Total Interest Rate Sensitivity Gap (369,070)   (264,366)   875,622    (242,186)   
Cumulative Interest Rate Sensitivity Gap (369,070)  (633,436)   242,186    -   
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  
 
Interest Rate Risk (continued) 
 
 

 Within        Three 
months  

Three months to 
one year  Above 1 year   

Non- Interest 
Sensitive  Total 

31 December 2020 AED '000  AED '000  AED '000   AED '000  AED '000 
           

Cash and balances with UAE Central Bank 243,017  -  -   38,104  281,121 

Due from Head Office and overseas branches -  -  -   108,940  108,940 

Due from banks and other financial institutions  -  -  146,920   14,051  160,971 

Loans and advances to customers 694,163  353,818  573,747   -  1,621,728 

Investment Securities -  -  72,164   -  72,164 

Deferred Tax Asset -  -  -   179,396  179,396 

Other assets -   -   -   6,711  6,711 

Acceptances -   -   -   20,349  20,349 

Property and equipment -  -  -   10,003  10,003 
                

Total Assets 937,180  353,818  792,831   377,554  2,461,383 
           

Due to Head Office and overseas branches -  -  -   864,132  864,132 

Due to banks and other financial institutions  -  -  -   393,671  393,671 

Customers deposits  407,769  116,258  1,903                 86,581   612,511 

Other liabilities   -    -    -    27,521  27,521 

Acceptances  -    -    -    20,349  20,349 

Head Office Equity  -    -    -    543,199  543,199 

                

Total Liabilities and Head Office Equity 407,769  116,258  1,903   1,935,453  2,461,383 

Total Interest Rate Sensitivity Gap 529,411   237,560   790,928    (1,557,899)   
Cumulative Interest Rate Sensitivity Gap 529,411  766,971   1,557,899    -   
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  
 
Interest Rate Risk (continued) 
 
 
The following table reflect the effect of 25 basis points change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant on the profit and loss statement. 
 
         2021          2020 
 AED ’000  AED ’000 
 
All Currencies 605 3,895 
 
 
 
Currency Risk 
Currency risk represents the risk of change in the value of financial instruments due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Head Office has set limits on positions by currencies, 
which are monitored daily. The Branches assets are typically funded in the same currency as that of the business transacted in order to eliminate foreign exchange exposure. The 
Branches manages exposure to the effects of fluctuations in prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. At the end of the year, the Branches 
had the following significant net exposures denominated in foreign currencies: 
   Kuwaiti Others  
 Euro GBP Dinar Currencies Total 
 AED ’000 AED ’000 AED ’000 AED ’000 AED ’000  
 
As at 31 December 2021       
  Assets and long positions  31,827 565 13 1,820,553 1,852,958  
  Liabilities, Head Office funds and short positions (31,824) (565) (13) (1,825,860) (1,858,262) 
                                                                                                                      
  Net open position of the currencies 3 - - (5,307) (5,304) 
 
As at 31 December 2020       
  Assets and long positions 50,010 965 84,492 1,410,889 1,546,356 
  Liabilities, Head Office funds and short positions (49,971) (927) (84,550) (1,469,880) (1,605,328) 
   
Net open position of the currencies 39 38 (58) (58,991) (58,972) 
 
The following table represents the Branches sensitivity to a percentage increase or decrease in the U.A.E. Dirhams against the relevant foreign currencies with the exception of 
US Dollars since it is pegged to the U.A.E. Dirhams. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and the impact of a 
reasonable possible movement in the exchange rates were as follows: 
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25 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  
 
Currency Risk (continued) 
 
Currency Percentage       2021       2020 
  AED ’000 AED ’000 
 
GBP  ± 3% ± 0 ± 1  
Euro  ± 3% ± 0 ± 1  
KWD  ± 3% ± 0 ± 1  
Other currencies                                                                  ± 3%                         ± 159                   ± 1,769  
 
Market Risk 
Market risk refers to the uncertainty of future earnings resulting from changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, 
market prices and volatilities. Due to the limited operations of the branches in Dubai and Abu Dhabi, U.A.E. (Retail 
and Corporate Banking) market risk exposure is measured by sensitivity analysis. There has been no change in 
Branches exposure to market risk and the manner in which these risks are managed and measured. 
 
The centralized Investment Committee at Head Office approves all the investment decision for the branches. The 
performance of the portfolio is updated regularly to senior management including ALCO and investment committee by 
Financial Risk Management department at Head Office. 
 
 
Operational Risk 
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss due to an event or action causing failure of technology, process 
infrastructure, personnel, and other risks having an operational risk impact. 
 
The Branches seeks to minimize actual or potential losses from operational risk failures through the operations risk 
management department by having a framework of policies and procedures to control and manage risks. In addition, 
an independent internal audit function identifies, assesses, and submits reports on these risks.  
 
Other risks to which the Branches are exposed are regulatory risk, legal risk, and reputation risk. Regulatory risk is 
controlled through a framework of compliance policies and procedures. Legal risk is managed through the effective 
use of internal and external legal advisers. Reputational risk is controlled through the regular examination of issues 
that are considered to have reputational repercussions for the Branches, with guidelines and policies being issued as 
appropriate. 
 
 
26 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  
 
Regulatory capital 
 
The Branches objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of the 
statement of financial position are: 

 To comply with the capital requirements set by the Central Bank of U.A.E; 

 To safeguard the Branches ability to continue as a going concern and increase the returns for the shareholders; 
and 

 To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business. 
 
The Central Bank of UAE (‘CBUAE’) supervises the Branches on a consolidated basis, and therefore receives 
information on the capital adequacy of, and sets capital requirements for, the Branches as a whole. Effective from 
2017, the capital is computed at the Branches level using the Basel III framework of the Basel Committee on Banking 
Supervision (‘Basel Committee’), after applying the amendments advised by the CBUAE, within national discretion. 
The Basel III framework, like Basel II, is structured around three ‘pillars’: minimum capital requirements, supervisory 
review process and market discipline. 
 
The Branches’ regulatory capital is analysed into two tiers:  
 
CET1 capital is the highest quality form of capital, comprising share capital, legal, statutory and other reserves, fair 
value reserve, retained earnings, after deductions for intangibles and other regulatory adjustments relating to items 
that are included in equity but are treated differently for capital adequacy purposes under ‘CBUAE’ guidelines.  
 
Tier 2 capital comprises of collective provision which shall not exceed 1.25% of total credit risk weighted assets. 
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26 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
Regulatory capital (continued)  
 
The CBUAE issued Basel III capital regulations, which came into effect from 1 February 2017 introducing minimum 
capital requirements at three levels, namely Common Equity Tier 1 (‘CET1’), Additional Tier 1 (‘AT1’) and Total Capital. 
The minimum capital adequacy requirements as set out by the Central Bank are as follows: 
 
Minimum common equity tier 1 (CET 1) ratio of 7% of risk weighted assets (RWAs).  
 

Minimum tier 1 ratio of 8.5% of RWAs. 
Total capital adequacy ratio of 10.5% of RWAs. 
Capital conservation buffer – 2.5% of RWAs. 
Countercyclical buffer – 0.32% of RWAs. 
 
Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored on a regular basis by the Branches’ management, 
employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee and the Central Bank of United 
Arab Emirates. The required information is filed with the regulators on a quarterly basis.  
 
The UAE Central Bank issued Basel III capital regulation vide its notice no. CBUAE/BSD/N/2020/66 dated January 07, 
2020 which was partially effective as at December 31, 2019 (as per the regulation, only Pillar II is applicable in 
December 2019 and the rest will be applicable from June 2020. 
 
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Branches have complied in full with all its externally imposed 
capital requirements. 
 
The Branches’ regulatory capital position at 31 December was as follows:  
 
 

  2021  2020 

  AED ’000   AED ’000 

Tier 1 capital  

Allocated capital                                                                           900,000  900,000 

Statutory reserve                                                                          2,595  2,595 

Accumulated loss                                                                         (520,347)  (360,747) 
  382,248  541,848 
    

 
Threshold deductions                                                                 (102,042)  (125,211) 

     

Total CET1 after regulatory adjustments / Tier 1 capital             280,206  416,637 
    

 
Tier 2 capital    

 
Collective impairment provision on loans and advances                          20,499  23,069 

                                                                                                   

Total capital base                                                                       300,705  439,706 

     

Risk-weighted assets    
 

Credit Risk                                                                        1,639,930  1,845,537 

Market Risk                                                                                  14,010  79 

Operational Risk                                                                     130,396  185,003 
     

Total risk-weighted assets                                            1,784,336  2,030,619 

    
 

    
 

Capital Adequacy Ratio                                                             16.85%  21.65% 
     

Tier 1 Capital to Total risk-weighted assets                            15.70%  20.52% 
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 26 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
Capital allocation 
 
The allocation of capital between specific operations and activities is, to a large extent, driven by optimisation of the 
return achieved on the capital allocated. The amount of capital allocated to each operation or activity is based primarily 
upon the regulatory capital. The process of allocating capital to specific operations and activities is undertaken 
independently of those responsible for the operation, by Risk and Credit Facility Department, and is subject to review 
by ALCO as appropriate.  
 
Although maximisation of the return on risk-adjusted capital is the principal basis used in determining how capital is 
allocated within the Branches to particular operations or activities, it is not the sole basis used for decision making. 
Account also is taken of synergies with other operations and activities, the availability of management and other 
resources, and the fit of the activity with the Branches’ longer term strategic objectives. The Branches’ policies in 
respect of capital management and allocation are reviewed regularly. 
 
27 ACCEPTANCES 
 
The branches do not perceive any significant credit risk on acceptances. Acceptances arise when the branches are 
under an obligation to make payments against documents drawn under letters of credit. After acceptance, the 
instrument becomes an unconditional liability of the branches and is therefore recognized as a financial liability in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. However, every acceptance has a corresponding contractual right of 
reimbursement from the customer which is recognized as a financial asset. 
 
Breakup by economic segment  
        2021       2020 
 AED ’000 AED ’000 
 
Services - - 
Construction - 20,349 
  ─────────  ───────── 
 - 20,349 
            ═════════       ═════════ 
 
28  COMPARATIVES 
 
The Comparative figuers have been reclassified where necessary to preserve consistency with the current year. 
However, such reclassification did not have any effect on the net profit or equity for the comparative year. Comparative 
periods have not been restated.  
 
29  IMPACT OF COVID-19 
 
On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation ("WHO") officially declared COVID-19 a global pandemic. In light 
of the rapid spread of COVID-19 across the globe, various economies and sectors have faced significant disruptions 
and uncertainty as a result of measures taken by governments to contain or delay the spread of the virus. 
 
i) IASB Guidance 
 
On 27 March 2020, the IASB issued a guidance note on accounting for expected credit losses in the light of current 
uncertainty arising from the Covid-19 pandemic. The guidance note states that IFRS 9 requires the application of 
judgement and both requires and allows entities to adjust their approach to determining ECLs in different 
circumstances. A number of assumptions and linkages underlying the way ECLs have been implemented to date may 
no longer hold in the current environment. Entities should not continue to apply their existing ECL methodology 
mechanically.  
 
Further, to assess significant increase in credit risk (SICR) IFRS 9 requires that entities assess changes in the risk of 
a default occurring over the expected life of a financial instrument. Both the assessment of SICR and the measurement 
of ECLs are required to be based on reasonable and supportable information that is available to an entity without 
undue cost or effort. Entities are required to develop estimates based on the best available information about past 
events, current conditions and forecasts of economic conditions. In assessing forecast conditions, consideration should 
be given both to the effects of Covid-19 and the significant government support measures being undertaken. 
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29 IMPACT OF COVID-19 (continued) 
 
ii) CBUAE support programs and initiatives 
 
The UAE Central Bank had announced AED 256 billion stimulus package in an attempt to combat the above effects 
of COVID-19 and ease the liquidity constraints in the UAE Banking Sector, by providing relief to the local economy. 
The stimulus package includes the launch of the Targeted Economic Support Scheme ('TESS'), which allows banks 
to grant temporary relief to certain customers in the way of deferring payments, and allowing banks to apply for zero-
cost funding from the Central Bank until 30 June 2021. 
 
As required by Central Bank under the notice no CBUAE/BSD/N/2020/2019, the customers benefitting from payment 
deferrals under the TESS program and the customers benefitting outside the program (Non-TESS) have been split 
into the below two main categories: 
 
Group 1: Customers that are temporarily and mildly impacted by the Covid-19 crisis. 
 
This sub segment includes borrowers for which the credit deterioration is not considered significant enough to 
trigger a significant increase in credit risk only on account of Covid impact. Such customers are expected to face short 
term liquidity issues caused by business disruption / salary cuts and are expected to recover rapidly once the economic 
environment stabilizes. These accounts are not considered to have sufficient deterioration in credit quality to trigger a 
stage migration and the staging maybe retained at the pre-crisis level. 
 
Group 2: Customers that are expected to face substantial changes in their credit worthiness beyond liquidity issues. 
 
This sub segment includes borrowers for which the credit deterioration is more significant and prolonged, ranging 
beyond liquidity issues, with an extended recovery period. For customers in Group 2, there may be sufficient 
deterioration in credit risk to trigger a migration to stage 2 or 3. 
 
The Branches were given the limit of AED 60 million to be utilised for TESS benefit. As at 31 December 2020, the 
outstanding balance was AED 8 million which was repaid and settled during the year. Utilization by industry and 
segment of the borrowers benefited in TESS scheme during the year and exposure outstanding as at 31 December 
2021 is summarised below: 
 

    AED '000 

Sector Group 1  Group 2 

  
Amount 
deferred 

Total loans 
and  

advances 

 Amount 
deferred 

Total loans 
and 

advances 

Retail Loans  -   -    -   -  

Construction  -   -    -   -  

Wholesale & Retail Trade         7,482          -   1,370 2,628 

Services       4,752     48,596   9,299  139,199  

Manufacturing       35,661        54,914    -   -  

       47,895     103,510    10,669   141,827  

      
Expected Credit Loss (ECL)                                  329                                       -   

 
As at 31 December 2020 is summarised below: 

     AED '000 

Sector Group 1  Group 2 

  
Amount 
deferred 

Total loans 
and 

advances 

 Amount 
deferred 

Total loans 
and 

advances 

Retail Loans                 148             2,060                     -                     -   

Construction            30,497        136,451                     -                     -   

Wholesale & Retail Trade            19,347        111,661                     -                     -   

Services            19,563        293,235               1,120            16,000  

            69,555        543,407               1,120            16,000  
      

Expected Credit Loss (ECL)                                   22,735                                       4,000  
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29 IMPACT OF COVID-19 (continued) 
 
ii) CBUAE support programs and initiatives (continued) 
 
Below is an analysis of ECL allowance by industry sector on the bank's customers benefitting from payment deferrals 
under the TESS program as at 31 December 2021: 

 AED '000 

Sector 
Impairment  
Allowance 

Retail - 

Construction - 

Wholesale & Retail Trade            287  

Services               13  

Manufacturing               29  

ECL allowance as at 31 December 2021            329  

 

As at 31 December 2020:  AED '000 

Sector 
Impairment  
Allowance 

Retail Loans                      1  

Construction            10,896  

Wholesale & Retail Trade              2,060  

Services            13,778  

ECL allowance as at 31 December 2020             26,735  

 
A case by case analysis has been performed for wholesale customers with material exposures and portfolio approach 
followed for retail customers and customers with smaller exposures. Based on the above considerations, customers 
availing TESS as at 31 December 2021 have been categorised as follows: 

      AED '000 

Segment Group Staging 
Number of 
Customers 

Amount 
deferred 

Exposure 
Impairment  
allowance 

Corporate 
Banking 

Group 1 Stage 1 
   

3        47,895  
   

103,510                     41  
Stage 2  -   -   -   -  

Group 2 Stage 2 
   

3        10,669  
   

141,827                   288  

Stage 3  -   -   -   -  

Retail Banking Group 1 
Stage 1  -   -   -   -  

Stage 2  -   -   -   -  

Total     
   

6        58,564  
   

245,337                   329  

 
As at 31 December 2020 

     
 

 AED '000 

Segment Group Staging 
Number of 
Customers 

Amount 
deferred 

 
Exposure 

Impairment  
allowance 

Corporate 
Banking  

Group 1 
Stage 1                     3            12,227           122,677                       28  

Stage 2                  10            57,180           418,669                22,706  

Group 2 Stage 3                     1              1,120             16,000                  4,000  

Retail Banking  Group 1 
Stage 1                     5                 136                  998  - 

Stage 2                     2                   12               1,063                          1  

Total                      21            70,675          559,407                26,735  
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29 IMPACT OF COVID-19 (continued) 
 
ii) CBUAE support programs and initiatives (continued) 
 

Migration of staging 

Stage migration of exposure since 1 January 2021, of customers benefiting from payment deferrals under the TESS 
program by business segment as at 31 December 2021 are summarised below: 
 

As at 31 December 2021     AED '000 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Corporate Banking          

As at 1 January 2021          122,677        418,669  16,000           557,346  

- Transfer between stages          - - -                   -   

- Change in exposure during the year         (19,167) (276,842) (16,000) (312,009) 

As at 31 December 2021          103,510        141,827  -        245,337  

Retail Banking          

As at 1 January 2021             998  1,063                   -   2,061 

- Transfer between stages - -                   -                     -   

- Change in exposure during the year (998) (1,063)                   -   (2,061) 

As at 31 December 2021 -            -                   -   - 
 
 

As at 31 December 2020 AED '000 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Corporate Banking          

As at 1 January 2020          180,558        410,177                    -            590,735  

- Transfer between stages          (35,506)         20,283            15,223                    -    

- Change in exposure during the year          (22,375)        (11,791)                777          (33,389) 

As at 31 December 2020          122,677        418,669            16,000         557,346  

Retail Banking          

As at 1 January 2020              5,856                   -                      -                5,856  

- Transfer between stages            (1,111)            1,111                    -                      -    

- Change in exposure during the year            (3,747)               (48)                   -              (3,795) 

As at 31 December 2020                 998            1,063                    -                2,061  
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29 IMPACT OF COVID-19 (continued) 
 
ii) CBUAE support programs and initiatives (continued) 
 
 
Stage migration of exposure since 1 January 2021, of Non-Tess customers taking payment deferrals as at 31 
December 2021 are summarised below: 
                      AED '000 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Corporate Banking          
As at 1 January 2021   5,756  102,654 43,414 151,824 
- Additions during the year - 154,502 - 154,502 
- Transfer between stages -     (27,132) 27,132               -   
- Change in exposure during the year    (5,756)           (122,287)  (42,776)       (170,819) 
As at 31 December 2021 -     107,737     27,770     135,507  
Retail Banking          
As at 1 January 2021    7,512  15            -   7,527 
- Transfer between stages - -  -                -   
- Change in exposure during the year (7,512) (15)            -   (7,527) 
As at 31 December 2021 - -            -   - 

 
As at 31 December 2020 

            AED '000 
  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Corporate Banking          
As at 1 January 2020    13,859     142,052       2,340     158,251  
- Transfer between stages -     (39,686)    39,686                -   
- Change in exposure during the year    (8,103)           288       1,388       (6,427) 
As at 31 December 2020      5,756     102,654     43,414     151,824  
Retail Banking          
As at 1 January 2020      8,691                -              -          8,691  
- Transfer between stages          (48)              48  -                -   
- Change in exposure during the year    (1,131)            (33)            -        (1,164) 
As at 31 December 2020      7,512               15             -          7,527  

 
 
Movement of deferral amount during the year are summarised below: 
 

   AED '000 
  Group 1 Group 2 Total 

Corporate Banking       

As at 1 January 2021 
   

8,000  
   

-   
   

8,000  
- Additions during the year                  47,895               10,669              58,564  

- Change in exposure during the year    (55,895) (10,669)                  (66,564) 

As at 31 December 2021                               -                        -                      -   
Retail Banking        
As at 1 January 2021                     -                            -                      -   
- Additions during the year                               -                        -                     -   
- Change in exposure during the year                     -                   -                                -   

As at 31 December 2021                    -                      -                     -   
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29 IMPACT OF COVID-19 (continued) 
 
ii) CBUAE support programs and initiatives (continued) 
 
As at 31 December 2020 

    AED '000 
  Group 1 Group 2 Total 

Corporate Banking 
        
As at 1 January 2020          -               -                -   
- Additions during the year   69,407         1,120        70,527  
- Change in exposure during the year  (61,407)       (1,120)      (62,527) 

As at 31 December 2020     8,000              -           8,000  

Retail Banking        

As at 1 January 2020          -               -                -   

- Additions during the year        148              -              148  

- Change in exposure during the year        (148)             -             (148) 

As at 31 December 2020          -               -                -   

 
 
30  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
During the period between the end of the reporting period and the date of authorisation of these financial statements, 
there were no events that would have material effect on the operations of the Branch. 


